2008

# Melvin Bingham v. Roosevelt City Corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **JURISDICTION**

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(3)(j). By Order dated January 6, 2009, the Utah Supreme Court transferred this appeal to the Utah Court of Appeals subject to the right of the parties to request that the Court retain the matter. This Court subsequently vacated the prior order of transfer and elected to retain jurisdiction over this appeal by Order dated January 30, 2009.

## **ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW**

Appellants (hereinafter the “North Hayden Group” or the “Group”) present the following issues in this appeal:

1. Did the district court err in granting summary judgment in favor of Defendant/Appellee Roosevelt City, concluding that the North Hayden Group did not have a protectable property interest that was taken by the City despite the fact that the City’s continuous pumping of the Hayden Well Field wells has resulted in dewatering the Group’s lands, thereby rendering the Group’s lands barren and their surface water rights useless? (Issue preserved: R. 254-261.)

*Standard of Review:* “An appellate court reviews a trial court’s legal conclusions and ultimate grant or denial of summary judgment for correctness and views the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” *Orvis v. Johnson*, 2008 UT 2, ¶ 6, 177 P.3d 600 (internal quotation and citation

omitted).

2. Did the district court err in granting summary judgment in favor of Roosevelt City, concluding that the City has not interfered with the North Hayden Group's water rights despite the fact that the City's continuous pumping of the Hayden Well Field wells is depleting the aquifer underlying the Group's lands, thereby creating an artificial condition in the lands which has deprived the Group of their water rights and has rendered the Group's properties barren? (Issue preserved: R. 245-254.)

*Standard of Review:* "An appellate court reviews a trial court's legal conclusions and ultimate grant or denial of summary judgment for correctness and views the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Orvis v. Johnson*, 2008 UT 2, ¶ 6, 177 P.3d 600 (internal quotation and citation omitted).

3. Did the district court err in granting summary judgment in favor of Roosevelt City, concluding that the North Hayden Group's claim for interference with water rights is barred by the Utah Governmental Immunity Act despite the fact that the City's wells, due to their depth and perforated casings, tap into and deplete the unconfined aquifer underlying the Group's land, thereby dewatering the Group's lands? (Issue preserved: R. 245-247.)

*Standard of Review:* "An appellate court reviews a trial court's legal conclusions and ultimate grant or denial of summary judgment for correctness and views the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Orvis v. Johnson*, 2008 UT 2, ¶ 6, 177 P.3d 600 (internal quotation and citation

omitted).

4. Did the district court err in granting summary judgment in favor of the City, concluding that the City did not owe the North Hayden Group a duty to refrain from depleting the aquifer below their properties even though such conduct unreasonably and substantially invades the Group's rights? (Issue preserved: R. 242-245.)

*Standard of Review:* "An appellate court reviews a trial court's legal conclusions and ultimate grant or denial of summary judgment for correctness and views the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Orvis v. Johnson*, 2008 UT 2, ¶ 6, 177 P.3d 600 (internal quotation and citation omitted).

5. Did the district court err in granting summary judgment in favor of Roosevelt City, concluding that the continuous tort rule does not apply to the North Hayden Group's interference with water rights, negligence, and takings claims when the undisputed facts show that the City's continuous pumping of the wells has the effect of further decreasing the level of the aquifer and further increasing the extent of the Group's property damage? (Issue preserved: R. 240-242.)

*Standard of Review:* "An appellate court reviews a trial court's legal conclusions and ultimate grant or denial of summary judgment for correctness and views the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Orvis v. Johnson*, 2008 UT 2, ¶ 6, 177 P.3d 600 (internal quotation and citation omitted).

## **DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES**

The North Hayden Group attaches to its Addendum a copy of the following determinative constitutional provisions, statutes, and rules:

- (1) U.S. Const. amend V.
- (2) Utah Const. art. I, sec. 22.
- (3) Utah Code Ann. §§ 63-30d-201, -301 (2004).
- (4) Utah Code Ann. § 73-1-8 (2004).

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### **1. Nature of the Case:**

This is an appeal by a group of land and water right owners who farm in the North Hayden area located outside Roosevelt City, Utah. The North Hayden Group appeals from the district court's order denying them any relief whatsoever from the harmful and damaging effects of the City's mining of the Neola-Whiterocks Aquifer, an unconfined, shallow aquifer underlying the North Hayden Group's lands.<sup>1</sup>

#### **2. Course of Proceedings:**

This appeal arises from a Complaint filed by the North Hayden Group on June 3, 2004, in the Eighth Judicial District Court for the State of Utah. (R. 1-16.) The North Hayden Group's Complaint sought relief from, and damages for, the increasing

---

<sup>1</sup> Groundwater mining results from continued overdraft, which occurs when the water level drops because "the rate of withdrawal from a basin [or aquifer] is greater than its recharge rate." Susan Batty Peterson, Note, *Designation and Protection of Critical Groundwater Areas*, 1991 B.Y.U. L. Rev. 1393, 1394 (1991).

deterioration and dewatering of their lands caused by Roosevelt City's continuous pumping of five wells in the Hayden Well Field, which draw water from the unconfined Neola-Whiterocks Aquifer underlying the Group's farms and pasture lands. (R. 2-7, 9-10.) Specifically, the Complaint stated that Roosevelt City's development and use of the wells in the Hayden Well Field has caused the water table beneath the North Hayden Group's lands to decrease substantially, thereby dewatering the Group's once-productive farm lands. (R. 9-10.) As a result of this dewatering, the North Hayden Group is no longer able to effectively irrigate their lands because the water they apply to their lands will no longer flow across the fields but is instead quickly absorbed and drawn down far beneath the surface, past the root systems of the crops and pasture vegetation, in order to replenish the depleted aquifer. (R. 9-10.) Consequently, the North Hayden Group can no longer grow hay, pasture their cattle, or derive income from their properties as they had consistently done in the past, and their water rights and the land to which the water rights are appurtenant have lost substantially all of their value. (R. 9.)

On September 9, 2008, Roosevelt City filed a motion for summary judgment. (R. 132-133.) In its supporting memorandum, the City argued that the North Hayden Group's claims should be dismissed on the following grounds: (1) all three of the claims are barred by the statutes of limitations because the Group was aware of the damage to their properties more than four years prior to the time they filed their Complaint; (2) the North Hayden Group's claim for interference with water rights is barred by the Utah Governmental Immunity Act because the Complaint did not allege negligent conduct when it stated that the City's conduct "manifested a knowing and reckless indifference



for and disregard of the [Group's] rights in their property"; (3) the City has not interfered with the North Hayden Group's water rights because the City is pumping water that it has lawfully appropriated; (4) the City did not take the Group's water but is instead pumping water that it has established a right to use; and (5) the City cannot be found negligent as a matter of law because it does not owe the Group a duty of reasonable care. (R. 160-68.)

The North Hayden Group filed their Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment on October 14, 2008. (172-276.) In response to the City's statute of limitations argument, the North Hayden Group asserted that their claims are not barred by the statute of limitations pursuant to the continuous tort rule. (R. 240-42.) That rule provides that the statute of limitations is deemed to run from the date of each wrongful act or at the end of the continuing wrongful conduct. (*Id.*)

Responding to the City's governmental immunity argument, the North Hayden Group explained that the Governmental Immunity Act specifically waives immunity for any injury proximately caused by a negligent act or omission and that their claim properly alleges negligent conduct. (R. 245-47.) In so stating, the Group referred the court to at least two Utah Supreme Court cases that have recognized that negligent conduct may include conduct that "manifests a knowing and reckless indifference toward the rights of others." (R. 246.) The Group asserted that immunity has also been waived under the Act pursuant to section 63-30d-301(3)(a)(ii), which waives immunity for a defective and/or dangerous condition of a public improvement. (R. 245-46.)

With respect to the City's claim that it has not interfered with the North Hayden Group's water rights even though its conduct has resulted in depleting or mining the

aquifer and dewatering the Group's lands, the North Hayden Group responded by explaining that the City's mining of the aquifer has prevented the Group from beneficially using their water rights. (R. 250-54.) Indeed, relying on past precedent from this Court, the North Hayden Group asserted that they are entitled to protection from both direct interference with their water rights and interference with the ability to beneficially use their water rights. (*Id.*) Because the City's conduct in mining the unconfined aquifer has dewatered the Group's lands and has prevented the Group from beneficially using their surface water rights, the City should compensate the Group for the damages resulting from that interference. (*Id.*)

In response to the City's defense that it did not take any protectable property interest possessed by the North Hayden Group when it "used the water which it has rightfully appropriated," (R. 162), the North Hayden Group explained that Utah has long recognized that the right to beneficially use water is part of the real property rights afforded a water right holder. (R. 260-61.) As a result, Roosevelt City's conduct in dewatering the Group's lands and in preventing the Group from beneficially using their water rights constitutes a taking under the Utah Constitution. (R. 257-59, 260-61.) Additionally, the North Hayden Group asserted that the City has taken the value and use of their property by depleting the aquifer and preventing them from beneficially using their own water rights, thereby triggering application of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution. (R. 254-56.)

Finally, with respect to the City's claim that it has no duty to avoid mining the aquifer, the North Hayden Group explained that the City's duty arises under two separate

principles. (R. 242-45.) First, the City has a common law duty to avoid using its property, which includes water rights, to the detriment of others. (R. 244-45.) Second, the City has a statutory duty to maintain its watercourses in such a manner as to prevent damage to the property of others. (R. 244.) The City breached both its common law duty and its statutory duty to act reasonably and to avoid substantial harm to the Group when it designed its wells to draw water from the shallow, unconfined Neola-Whiterocks Aquifer rather than the lower confined Duchesne River Formation. (R. 242-45.) Because the Group's water rights and lands have been and are continuing to be damaged by the depletion of the unconfined aquifer, the North Hayden Group is entitled to recover the damages they have incurred as a result of the City's breach. (*Id.*)

On November 24, 2008, without the aid of oral argument, the district court granted Roosevelt City's motion on all grounds. (R. 290-303.) First, with respect to the statute of limitations, the Court stated that the North Hayden Group failed to "explain how the continuous tort rule applies to each of their separate claims" and therefore refused to apply that rule to any of the claims before it. (R. 292.) Second, the district court found that the Governmental Immunity Act barred the North Hayden Group's claims for interference with water rights because the Complaint did not allege that the interference resulted from negligence and because section 63-30d-301(3)(a)(ii) did not apply to the facts of the case. (R. 297.) Third, in dismissing the North Hayden Group's claim for interference, the district court reasoned that "[i]f the [c]ourt were to accept the [North Hayden Group's] argument, it would allow the [Group] to control indirectly water which they have no right to control directly." (R. 299.) With respect to the City's fourth

argument, the district court found that the North Hayden Group's takings claims should be dismissed because "there is no evidence that the [City] has taken the beneficial use of the [Group's] irrigation water. The [Group is] free to use their irrigation water as they wish." (R. 295.) Finally, the district court held that the Group's negligence claims should be dismissed because the City "has no duty to refrain from using the water that they have rightfully appropriated." (R. 294.) The ruling and order is attached hereto as Addendum A. It is from this order that the North Hayden Group appeals.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

### **1. Introduction**

The lands owned by the North Hayden Group have historically been flood irrigated and have consistently produced a substantial crop and good pasture grounds. (R. 185, 189-90, 263-66.) As is common in Utah, application of water to the land has made the land fertile, productive and valuable. (R. 185, 189-90.) Even during droughts in the past, the North Hayden Group's lands consistently produced a substantial crop each year through the use of flood irrigation. (R. 185, 190). However, after the City drilled and began pumping five separate wells in a well field located near the North Hayden Group's properties (the "Hayden Well Field") in the early 1990s, the water table dropped dramatically. (R. 198-99.) Lands which were once fertile and green are now barren, and cottonwood and cedar trees that had thrived are now dead. (R. 183-85; R. 189-90; 198.) Although the North Hayden Group continues to attempt to irrigate their lands, the water no longer sustains crops and pasture, instead moving quickly past the root zone of the soil

to the level of the dramatically lowered water table far below the root zone, vainly attempting to recharge the depleted aquifer. (R. 9-10, 183-85, 189-90, 198.)

The direct cause of the damage to the North Hayden Group's property is the continuous pumping of the Hayden Well Field wells by the City. (R. 198.) Indeed, the North Hayden Group's expert has determined that, rather than tapping into the lower confined Duchesne River Formation, the City's shallow wells drain the near-surface unconfined Neola-Whiterocks Aquifer. (R. 198-200.) Very simply, unlike the vast number of wells in Utah which tap *confined* underground aquifers and do not affect the surface water table, the City's wells drain the shallow unconfined aquifer. This aquifer, which has historically provided a near-surface water table, has dropped over 80 feet since the City began pumping the Hayden Well Field wells. (R. 198-201.) As a result, natural vegetation has died and the irrigation water which is applied to the North Hayden Group's properties is drawn quickly past the root zone of crops and natural pasture to the substantially lowered water table, thereby depriving the Group of any beneficial use of their water on their land. (R. 183-84; 189; 198.) This is the injury to the North Hayden Group for which they seek compensation. (R. 1-16.)

## **2. The Development of the Hayden Well Field**

In the early 1980s, Roosevelt City purchased property and the water rights associated with the property located in the North Hayden area from Verl Haslem. (R. 268.) At the time of the sale, Mr. Haslem's property contained two wells, with the associated water rights, which were approximately 90 to 95 feet deep. (*Id.*) Mr. Haslem

had generally used the two wells to seasonally irrigate land adjacent to or near the properties of the North Hayden Group. (R. 200, 268.) Mr. Haslem's wells were not drilled or intended to be used for continuous water production where the water pumped would be taken completely out of the hydrologic system. (R. 200.)

After purchasing Mr. Haslem's wells and water rights, in 1983, Roosevelt City began moving other water rights to the wells. It filed a Change Application with the Utah State Engineer to change the point of diversion of an existing water right, Water Right No. 43-3512, to the location of Mr. Haslem's two wells (hereinafter referred to as the "Hayden Well Field"). (R. 268.) The Change Application was approved in December 1983. (*Id.*) Shortly thereafter, in 1984, Roosevelt City hired a contractor to rehabilitate and deepen the two existing wells and to drill an additional well. (R. 267-68.) At the time of drilling, the static water level for the new well was reported as only 25.6 feet below ground surface. (R. 267.)

In 1985, the City filed another Change Application to change the point of diversion of Water Right 43-3607, moving another water right held by the City to the Hayden Well Field. (*Id.*) The Change Application was approved on May 2, 1986, and the City thereafter contracted to have two additional wells drilled in the Hayden Well Field: Well No. 1A and Well No. 4. (*Id.*) The well reports for Well Nos. 1A and 4 indicate that, by 1990, the static water level had dropped to 64 feet and 83 feet, respectively. (*Id.*)

Each of the five Hayden Well Field wells that were either rehabilitated or drilled by the City draw water from the Neola-Whiterocks Aquifer, which is an unconfined

shallow aquifer underlying the Hayden area that supports a near-surface water table. (*Id.*) Based on information contained in technical publications on file with the Division of Water Rights, historical data indicates that the static water level in the Hayden area before the Hayden Well Field was established was 14.3 feet below ground surface. (R. 266-67.) Using information provided in those publications, the North Hayden Group's expert, Jack R. Rogers, P.G., estimated that within the short time span of 12 years, the City's use of the Hayden Well Field had lowered the water table at least 40-50 feet from its original level in 1978. (R. 266.) Mr. Rogers also noted that the water levels measured and recorded by the City in 2000 and 2001 indicate that the water table has declined further since the additional wells were completed in 1990. (*Id.*) And, consistent with those measurements, the results of a test conducted in 2008 by Mr. Rogers on Well No. 5 shows that the water level in that area has dropped to 94.6 feet below ground level. (*Id.*)

### **3. The North Hayden Group's Farm and Pasture Lands**

The North Hayden Group consists of farmers that own land in Duchesne and Uintah Counties, including Fern Oberhansly and Howard Horrocks. (R. 14-16.) The North Hayden Group's lands historically consisted of highly productive pasture and farmlands, which allowed the Group to produce large amounts of hay and/or provide pasture for a large number of cattle. (R. 266.) In fact, prior to 1990, the year that Roosevelt City began pumping all five of the Hayden Well Field wells, Ms. Oberhansly and her husband used their 120 acre parcel of land to raise and feed 75 head of cattle year-round and to grow a plentiful crop of hay each year. (R. 265-66.) Ms. Oberhansly's

land also had a stand of young cottonwood trees reaching approximately fifteen to twenty feet in height and several cedar trees that provided shelter from the wind for her cattle. (R. 190.) Similarly, prior to 1990, Mr. Horrocks' land produced a substantial crop of hay each year, such that Mr. Horrocks averaged 4,500 bales of hay per year from only one 70 acre parcel. (R. 265). The North Hayden Group's properties were known as "good pasture ground," meaning "a lot of water got to them in order to keep the ground—keep the grass growing." (*Id.*) But this all changed once the City began mining the shallow, unconfined Neola-Whiterocks Aquifer beneath their properties.

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