2008

Melvin Bingham v. Roosevelt City Corporation : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

All of the North Hayden Group's claims for relief and theories of liability depend on them having some kind of property interest in the ground water underlying their respective properties. Their takings claims are dependent on this Court finding that as a matter of law they have a protected property right to use the water under their respective properties. Their interference with water rights claims and their negligence claims are equally dependent on the City having the duty to use its own wells and water rights in a manner which does not interfere with the North Hayden Group's historical use of the ground water under their properties. If the North Hayden Group does not have a property interest, or other legally protected interest in the water underlying their properties, all of their claims fail and the summary judgment in favor of the City must be upheld.

The North Hayden Group does not have a protectable property interest in the groundwater underlying their properties and therefore the City did not take or damage their property in a constitutional sense. The City did not take or damage the beneficial use of the North Hayden Group's properly appropriated or leased irrigation water rights. The City does not have a duty to refrain from the use of its

own approved water rights or wells and therefore did not negligently interfere with the North Hayden Group' water rights.

In addition all of North Hayden Group's claims arose many years prior to the complaint being filed and are therefore barred by the applicable statutes of limitations.

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE. THE NORTH HAYDEN GROUP PROPERTY OWNERS DO NOT HAVE A LEGALLY PROTECTED INTEREST IN THE WATER UNDERLYING THEIR GROUND AND THEREFORE THERE WAS NO TAKING OF PROPERTY WITHOUT COMPENSATION

The North Hayden Group's takings claims are brought under both state and federal constitutions. "To recover under article I, section 22 [of the Utah Constitution], a claimant must possess a protectable interest in property that is taken or damaged for a public use." *Bagford v. Ephraim City*, 904 P.2d 1095, 1097 (Utah 1995). The Fifth Amendment analysis is virtually identical (with the exception that a claim under the Utah Constitution is in one sense broader) and also requires that a claimant possess a protectable interest in property. See *Smith v. Price Development Co.*, 2005 UT 87, 125 P.3d 945.

Under the United States Constitution an injury to property alone does not amount to a taking in violation of the Takings Clause. A taking under the Fifth Amendment requires an invasion that is "actual" and "permanent" and that amounts

to an “appropriation of and not merely an injury to the property.” *Sanguinetti v. United States*, 264 U.S. 146, 149 (1924). Unlike an inverse condemnation claim under the Utah Constitution, a claim under Federal law requires an actual taking rather than mere injury or damages to the property.

The City does not believe that the North Hayden Group has identified any protectable property interest that the City has taken or damaged. The North Hayden Group identifies two property interests that they allege have been taken or damaged without compensation. First, the North Hayden Group claims that the City has taken the right to beneficially use their existing water shares, resulting in damage to the profits from their agricultural land and secondly, that they, by virtue of their ownership of the land, have a property interest in the “near-surface” water underlying their properties. The City’s position is that neither of these is a protectable interest in property nor was taken by the City.

The North Hayden Group’s brief argues that the right to beneficially use water is in itself a protected property right and that the City has taken that right from them. This argument confuses the concept of putting water to a beneficial use with the benefit that one might receive from that use. “Beneficial use shall be the basis, the measure and the limit of all rights to the use of water in the state.” Utah Code Ann. 73-1-3 (2008). It is not a property right in itself.

It is an undisputed fact that the members of the North Hayden Group have the use of all of their leased or owned water rights in the same quantities, amounts, and at the same points of diversion as they did before the City put its Hayden well field into production. The North Hayden Group's claim is that the use of their water rights is not as beneficial economically to them as it once was because of the City pumping its own wells. (Record pgs 9 and 157-158).

Beneficial use in the water law context describes and limits a water right. It is not separate from the water right. There can be no valid water right without beneficial use, but there could be beneficial use of water without a valid water right. Such is the case in this instance-- the North Hayden Group has been making use of the ground water below its property without having any properly appropriated rights to the use of that water and through this litigation is trying to make this use legitimate.

The cases cited by the brief of the North Hayden Group do not support their contention that an expected benefit from the use of water is a protected property right in and of itself, or that the City has taken that use. The *Green River Canal Co. v. Thayn*, 2003, UT 50, 84 P.3d 1134, case does not establish that the beneficial use of water is a separate protectable property right. It is a contract case and is not relevant to the issues raised in this case. It holds that the contract in question did not limit a party's use of his water but the water right held by the

party did. The language in *Green River Canal Co.* that is more relevant to the issues before this Court is that, “the guiding principle behind our water law statutes and the work of the State Engineer is that water must always be put to the most beneficial use. ‘Because of the vital importance of water in this arid region both our statutory and decisional law have been fashioned in recognition of the desirability and of the necessity of insuring the highest possible development and of the most continuous beneficial use of all available water with as little waste as possible.’” *Green River Canal Co. v. Thayne*, 2003, UT 50, 84 P.3d 1134, at ¶34 (quoting *Wayman v. Murray City Corp.*, 23 Utah 2d 97, 458 P.2d 861, 863(1969)) It is apparent from this language that the policy of the State of Utah is in favor of Roosevelt City’s full development of its water rights, even those under the North Hayden Group’s property.

The case of *Sigurd City v. State*, 142 P.2d 154 (Utah 1943) is also not supportive of the position of the North Hayden Group that beneficial use as described by the North Hayden Group’s brief is a protected property right. This case involved a direct taking through eminent domain and the issue for the court involved how much water in a creek the city had to pay for. The court in that case stated, “The defendants were entitled to the use of all the water in Petersons Creek and its tributaries which reached their lands and had been appropriated and beneficially used thereon. To the extent that the plaintiff’s taking of the waters of

Rosses Creek deprived the defendants of the use of water which would otherwise have been used upon their lands the plaintiff has taken the defendants' water.”

Sigurd City v. State, 142 P.2d 154, 157(Utah 1943). The key to this holding is not that beneficial use is a property right, but that a land owner is only entitled to be paid for water that he has both *appropriated and beneficially used*. The North Hayden Group has not appropriated any of the subsurface water under their ground. The members of the North Hayden Group may have been benefiting from the under-ground water but they are not entitled to be compensated for it by the City.

The North Hayden Group also argues that the City must compensate them for the damages caused by the City taking the near surface water underlying the group member's ground. For this argument to be successful this Court must find that as a matter of law the North Hayden Group has a legally protected right to the continued use of the ground water under their properties to assist them in their irrigation. If the North Hayden Group does not have a legally protected interest in the subsurface water, then they have no takings claim against the City for the loss in production from their properties. The fact that the North Hayden Group has alleged that it has lost crop and cattle production is not in itself enough to establish that the City has taken property. Crops and cattle are protectable property interests, but the amount of crops and cattle that land will produce and sustain is

the product of many factors such as the skill of the farmer, the weather, and whether there is drought or not. The amount of crop and cattle expected from a particular property is not a protected property interest. It is a unilateral expectation of the property owner. Utah courts have made it clear that a unilateral expectation in future profits or other interest is not property protected from taking by the constitution. See *Bagford v. Ephraim City*, 904 P.2d 1095, 1096 (Utah 1995).

The North Hayden Group does not have any protectable property interest in the ground water underlying their properties. The North Hayden Group is asserting that they have rights in the water underlying their ground based solely on their ownership of the ground. The law in Utah is that the ownership of land itself does not give the land owner any rights to any water on, adjoining, or below that land. See *J.J.N.P. Co. v. State*, 655 P.2d 1133 (Utah 1982). The first principle of Utah water law is that, "all waters in this state, whether above or under the ground, are hereby declared to be the property of the public subject to all existing rights to the use thereof." *In Re Uintah Basin*, 133 P.3d 410, 420 (Utah 2006). (Quoting U.C.A. § 73-1-1) The State Engineer has been designated as responsible for the administrative supervision of the waters of the state. U.C.A. § 73-2-1.

The North Hayden Groups arguments in this case are similar to the claimants arguments in *Weber Basin Water Conservancy District v. Gailey*, 328 P.2d 175 (Utah 1958). In *Weber Basin Conservancy District*, the land owner

wanted damages from a water district because the root zone water he had been relying on to support the vegetation on his property was taken away from the land by the damming of the Weber River. This case was a direct takings case and the landowner was seeking money damages because the water table under his ground had been adversely affected by the construction of a publicly owned facility a public purpose. In that case the landowner, “maintains that the subsurface waters in his soil are part of the land itself and therefore his private property, and that any diversion of the river which would lower the water table removes moisture from his land is a ‘taking of and a damage to’ his property.” *Weber Basin, supra at, 176*

The landowner had not appropriated any rights in the river or to the underground water in his land. *Id.* at 179. The court found that the landowner had no legally recognizable claim for damages to his property.

The *Weber Basin* case is directly analogous to this case. The North Hayden Group does not hold any water rights in the aquifer below their properties. Just as the plaintiff in *Weber Basin* did not hold any rights in the river. The plaintiff in *Weber Basin* was apparently relying on the root zone water on his land to maintain its utility as pasture. Just as the members of the North Hayden Group were relying on the underlying aquifer to aid in the irrigation of their properties. The plaintiff in *Weber Basin* claimed damages to his land caused by the loss of the percolating waters when the owners of the water rights began to use their rights to

the water. This is the very claim these North Hayden Group is now making against the City.

The Court in *Weber Basin* said in deciding the case in against the land owner and in favor of the governmental entity the following:

In addition to the other difficulties encountered in permitting defendant to insist upon benefits to his property because it lies on the banks of the stream, there is the additional consideration that it would allow him to accomplish by indirection what he cannot do directly: that is, to assert and maintain rights to control of the water in question, including to some degree the water in the Weber River, without ever having met the recognized legal requirements prerequisite to the establishment of such rights.

Under the circumstances described, to endow defendant or others similarly situated downstream owners, who in some instances might be great in number, with the right to demand damages because use of the river by owners of upstream water rights may effect the moisture in their soil, would not only impair the right of prior appropriators to use waters rightfully theirs, but may well in some instances present such obstacles as to make it practically impossible to impound and use such waters. This clearly runs counter to the basic policy of our water and irrigation law of facilitating and encouraging the conservation, development and continuous application of water resources to useful purposes.

Supporting in principle the conclusion we reach herein, and quite impossible to reconcile with the defendant's position, is the consistent policy of the law followed by this court of requiring that there be some action taken to appropriate and control waters in order to establish rights to its use. We have never gone so far as to base water

rights on the mere acceptance of benefits incidental to the presence of water on or adjacent to one's land. *Weber Basin Conservancy District v. Gailey, supra, at 179.*

The North Hayden Group's arguments for damages are almost identical to those rejected in *Weber Basin*. The North Hayden Group is trying to control the City's use of its properly appropriated water indirectly through claims for damages. The City has developed its wells. Once the wells were put into production the North Hayden Group claimed their lands dried up and they suffered damages. The North Hayden Group is claiming rights based solely on their prior acceptance of benefits incidental to the presence of water under their ground.

If the position of the North Hayden Group is adopted it will result in the complete reversal of long established principles of Utah water law and result in property owners having rights in water based on their ownership of the ground adjoining or above the water source.

The North Hayden Group relies on the case of *Riordan v. Westwood*, 203 P.2d 922 (Utah 1949) for the proposition that there is a category of water, lying near the surface of property, that is private water, that does not belong to the public, and is not subject to appropriation through the State of Utah. This reliance is misplaced.

Even to the extent that *Riordan* is still good law (a point that can certainly be argued) the North Hayden Group do not have any private right, or property

interest, in the water that they claim the City has deprived them of. *Riordan*, in relevant part, limits its own application to waters which “course cannot be traced onto the lands of any person other than the owner of the land where it is found . . .” (*Riordan*, supra at 929) The North Hayden Group’s expert has opined that the water that the City is using comes from the “Neola-Whiterocks Aquifer which is an unconfined aquifer underlying the Hayden area that supports a near surface water table.” (Record at 198-200). He has is also of the opinion that the City’s pumping of the water has lowered the water table under North Hayden Group’s lands from 14.3 feet to 94.6 feet. (Record at 266-67) Because the water the North Hayden Group are claiming is part of an established aquifer, which extends well beyond the North Hayden Group’s lands, they cannot have any property interest in that water under the *Riordan* rationale.

In addition, in *Riordan* the private water was limited to only that water that was necessary to maintain the natural plant life on the land. *Riordan*, at pg. 231. All other water under the *Riordan* case was public water and subject to appropriation. In the case at hand the North Hayden Group’ claims for damages are all from crop and stock loss occasioned by the legal, state sanctioned, use by the City of ground water under the North Hayden Group’ land which use the North Hayden Group allege has made their irrigation efforts ineffective. (Record at 9) The North Hayden Group are not alleging damages to the natural vegetation. They

are in essence relying on the *Riordan* case to “boot strap” themselves from a private right in the root zone water to control over the public water contained in the aquifer.

Riordan is probably not even good law on the issue the North Hayden Group are relying on it for in this case. A better statement of what the law in Utah is regarding public or private ownership of the near surface water table is that found in *Salt Lake City v. Silver Fork Pipeline Corp*, 2000 UT 3, 5 P.3d 1206 (Utah 2000) wherein the Utah Supreme Court stated:

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